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Name: CHICKSANDS PRIORY

District: Central Bedfordshire (Unitary Authority)

Parish: Campton and Chicksands

label.localisation: Latitude: 52.039647

Longitude: -0.36473633

National Grid Reference: TL 12259 39178

Map: Download a full scale map (PDF)

label.localisation: [52.0392063394835,-0.359981507828774], [52.0387947528598,-0.359825866881844],

[52.038019147737,-0.359569742712674], [52.0378310285565,-0.359500755621256],

[52.0376197892921,-0.359451583758723], [52.0372768190134,-0.359393005157222],

[52.0368079683383,-0.359324820970018], [52.0364711124418,-0.359284988178826],

[52.0357795895575,-0.359211866403761], [52.0358773735377,-0.359146732966535],

[52.0359666284211,-0.359073484747447], [52.0362102174058,-0.358820376783619],

[52.0362981794655,-0.358731793489959], [52.0363699980575,-0.358639077366688],

[52.0364284615424,-0.35853262065678], [52.0364607850091,-0.35843895959318],

[52.0365594965222,-0.358072607709622], [52.0367051651307,-0.357403408853148],

[52.0368059348155,-0.356975320374508], [52.0368780741487,-0.356486652242573],

[52.0368847282809,-0.356438980948633], [52.0368931600112,-0.356414965393458],

[52.0369134248729,-0.356399992562309], [52.036996923181,-0.356411159809963],

[52.0372815795935,-0.356492557032654], [52.0374085339127,-0.356548844225045],

[52.0374437156748,-0.35656932151261], [52.0376540733597,-0.356735704299652],

[52.0377492520792,-0.356823629543057], [52.03786512861,-0.356952130237406],

[52.0380260990193,-0.357129745502064], [52.0381383988628,-0.357299042301658],

[52.0382043335318,-0.357433822753518], [52.0382728085992,-0.357625722347501],

[52.0383553322546,-0.357881143081337], [52.0384089298139,-0.358054635084072],

[52.0384553217488,-0.358177565457119], [52.0384984196943,-0.358284797410016],

[52.0385614665937,-0.358378249588337], [52.0386570077308,-0.358492279802247],

[52.038769068488,-0.358636163275412], [52.0387873966718,-0.358602847007212],

[52.0388087870623,-0.35862798701293], [52.0387792174555,-0.358690204680956],

[52.0388473778642,-0.35876606193625], [52.0391142172723,-0.359037046131822],

[52.0393210828574,-0.359243480695054], [52.0392063394835,-0.359981507828774]

label.overview: Heritage Category: Park and Garden

Grade: II

List Entry Number: 1000574

Date first listed: 30-Nov-1986
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Details

A country house surrounded by an C18/C19 landscape park.

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

Chicksands Priory, founded in the 1150s, was a large Gilbertine house with fifty-five canons and 120 nuns, of which the

present house represents the southern, canons' cloister, which was attached to the church to the north. The Priory, dissolved

in 1539, passed into the Osborne family in 1576, who continued in ownership until 1935. The Osbornes lived in the relatively

unaltered Priory buildings during the C16 and C17, until, in the mid C18, Sir Danvers Osborne employed Isaac Ware (d 1766)

to modernise the house, removing the medieval features. George Osborne, Sir Danvers' son, seems to have built Gothic garden

buildings in the 1760s (Collett-White 1995), employing James Wyatt (1714-1813) c 1813 to rework the house in Gothic Revival

style. Wyatt may also have designed several garden buildings. Chicksands was sold by the Osbornes to the Government in

1935, the estate being developed for military use and a considerable amount of parkland being built upon. The land remains in

Ministry of Defence ownership, with the house undergoing restoration (1997) and intended for residential occupation.

DESCRIPTION

LOCATION, AREA, BOUNDARIES, LANDFORM, SETTING Chicksands lies 2km west of the village of Shefford and 10km

south-east of Bedford. The 55ha site is bounded largely by mid to late C20 military housing and other developments, together

with agricultural land and woodland. The estate lies on the Greensand Ridge, the southern half on largely level ground, with a

low rise to the north and north-west. The setting includes the outlying woodland of Rowney Warren to the north, seen across

former parkland from the north boundary, with the ornamental facade of the Firstlodge Farm buildings adjacent to the south

side of the wood and east side of the north drive.

Long Drive is a track which bisects, from north to south, Chicksands and Pedley Woods, which lie adjacent to each other some

2km west of the Priory, across farmland (outside the registered area). Within the woodland two obelisks are sited at the north

and south ends of Long Drive. The first, sited at the north end (0.5km south-west of Appley Corner, NGR TL104 406, listed

grade II), dates from the late C18 or early C19; it was erected by George Osborne and was possibly designed by James Wyatt.

The second, sited at the south end of Long Drive (NGR TL097 395), is dated 1889.

ENTRANCES AND APPROACHES The current (1997) main approaches are from the north and from the south, along the

almost straight Chicksands Avenue. The south entrance is marked by a single-storey stone lodge (listed grade II) with gabled

attic, dated 1866, lying west of the drive entrance. From here Chicksands Avenue runs due north as a road, originally crossing

the lower lake 450m south-east of the Priory via an C18/C19 three-arched brick bridge with a brick parapet, but now diverted

several metres to the east and carried by a late C20 bridge. The drive to the house leaves Chicksands Avenue, curving north-

west across the park to arrive at the south entrance to the entrance court, which is flanked by stone gate piers, on the east front

of the Priory. The court is bounded by a stone ha-ha lying 40m from the east, entrance front, with a tarmac carriage sweep by

the entrance to the house. The ha-ha is not shown on the 1881 or 1901 OS maps. Chicksands Avenue continues north across

the park from the bridge to the top of an incline; from here Rowney Warren wood is visible across former parkland (outside the

area here registered), which the Avenue then crosses, running through the wood, and emerging on the Bedford Road. A spur

south-west off Chicksands Avenue breaks away 300m north-east of the Priory, arriving at the north entrance to the entrance

court, also marked by stone piers, opposite the entrance to the stable yard. It then curves south to the carriage sweep.

East Lodge (listed grade II), lying 1km south-east of the Priory, is a single-storey stone building with gabled attic, dated 1866,

and almost identical to the south lodge. It is situated at the east entrance to a former drive from the edge of Shefford. The

entrance, lying close to the east front of the lodge, off the Ampthill road, is flanked by two stone gate piers 1.5m high, linked by

curved stone walls (listed grade II) topped by wrought-iron railings. The drive originally curved north-west through Campton

Plantation but is now (1997) built over at its northern end close to Chicksands Avenue Bridge, although the southern half may

survive as a track.
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PRINCIPAL BUILDING Chicksands Priory (listed grade I) lies towards the centre of the park, a two-storey rendered country

house incorporating the remains of the medieval Gilbertine priory. The east, entrance front overlooks the east park, with views

beyond towards distant, low hills. The front is dominated by a single-storey central stone porch with a pointed-arched doorway

and ornate embattled parapet and pinnacles. The south front overlooks an open lawn and the upper lake beyond, with a projecting

central bay in Gothic style, with pointed openings. The west front is approached by a late C20 road from the development to the

north-west, having been without vehicular access before this was constructed, the road arriving at a large tarmac apron lying

adjacent to this front. The stable yard, adjacent to the north front, is surrounded by a group of late C18 red-brick buildings,

with, to the east, a two-storey, four-centred archway giving access from the entrance court.

GARDENS AND PLEASURE GROUNDS The majority of the gardens lies south of the Priory, consisting of a largely level

lawn extending south to the upper lake, flanked by trees and shrubs, in particular yews, bounded to the west by a clipped yew

hedge and to the east by the park. The Orangery (c 1800, listed grade II*), probably designed by James Wyatt for Sir George

Osborne, stands 100m north of the east front, on a circuit of the former pleasure grounds (now (1997) largely lost) surrounding

the walled garden. The building is in Gothic style, of red brick with a timber facade including slender Gothic clustered half

columns separating the full length sash windows. Flanked by mature yews, it faces south onto a lawn partly surrounded by

clipped yew hedges. The lawn runs down to the entrance court. On the west side, close to the stable entrance, stands a 4m high

obelisk (1816, listed grade II) of rendered brick with an inscription commemorating peace after the Battle of Waterloo. This

monument has been moved twice, initially in 1856 to woodland on the current western park boundary, and in 1975 to its current

position, having first been sited possibly in Chicksands Wood.

The 1881 and 1901 OS maps show a circular walk, now largely lost, running north from the east front of the house past the

Orangery, encircling the east, north and west outer walls of the walled garden, returning to the south-west corner of the Priory.

The walk formed a wooded circuit with conifers and broadleaved trees, a path from the north boundary giving access to Priory

Farm immediately to the north, and also leading south into the outer walled garden. A further spur from the circular path on

the west side gave access through the outer wall to the inner walled garden.

PARK The park lies adjacent to the Priory and gardens to the north-west, east and south. The dominant features are the two

narrow lakes, formed from the widening of the River Flit, which bisect the south park from west to east. The upper, west lake,

separated from the lower, east lake by a semicircular cascade, is crossed from the north bank by a late C20 wooden bridge,

which leads onto a small wooded peninsular emerging into the lower lake and giving access to the south bank. The top of the

cascade is shown without a bridge in a print of 1781 (Bedfordshire Record Office), which shows the view from the south, north

towards the Priory, with the park running up to the south and east fronts of the Priory; a c 1820 watercolour (Bedfordshire

Record Office) of the scene from the north depicts a rustic bridge crossing the cascade. Much of the park has been developed

and the remaining area has lost many of its trees. The small areas of woodland to the north-west appear to have been significant:

Temple Grove contained a temple, now gone (1997), and walks throughout, with the remains of a chapel within or close by

the south boundary; Druids and Penseroso Groves have names which may be of C18 origin, but late C19 mapping (OS 1881)

shows no features within the woodland.

KITCHEN GARDEN The now disused kitchen garden lies north of, and adjacent to, the stable court, separated from it by a

stable building and a red-brick wall, and entered via a pillared doorway in the wall. The garden, divided into two sections,

consists of the west and south sides of an outer garden which, when complete, encircled the square inner garden. Red-brick

walls (listed grade II), parts of which are C18, surround the inner and outer areas, with, at the centre of the inner garden, a range

of lean-to glasshouses against a wall with storage sheds behind, some with wooden produce storage structures.
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OS 6" to 1 mile: 1st edition published 1881 2nd edition published 1901 3rd edition published 1926 OS 25" to 1 mile: 1st edition

published 1880

Description written: September 1997 Amended: April 1999 Register Inspector: SR Edited: May 1999

Legal

This garden or other land is registered under the Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953 within the Register of

Historic Parks and Gardens by Historic England for its special historic interest.


